THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

Supreme Court No. 22-0917

Black Hawk County No. LACV141273

---

RON MYERS

Plaintiff-Appellant

v.

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

Defendant-Appellee

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK  
HAWK COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JOEL DALRYMPLE

---

APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW  
FROM  
COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DATED  
MAY 24, 2023

---

SAMUEL C. ANDERSON  
SWISHER & COHRT, P.L.C.  
528 West 4th Street  
P. O. Box 1200  
Waterloo, IA 50704-1200  
Telephone: (319) 232-6555  
Facsimile: (319) 232-4835  
E-mail: [sanderson@s-c-law.com](mailto:sanderson@s-c-law.com)  
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR FURTHER REVIEW

QUESTION 1: Absent regulatory or statutory criteria concerning the requisite level of diving board slip resistance and absent any governmental or agency notice of non-compliance, does the case of *Sanon v. City of Pella*, 865 N.W.2d 506 (Iowa 2015) apply to this case and allow a jury to determine whether a criminal offense occurred using tort negligence standards and, if so, should the *Sanon* majority opinion be overturned in favor of the dissenting opinion?

QUESTION 2: Absent regulatory or statutory criteria concerning the requisite level of diving board slip resistance and absent any governmental or agency notice of non-compliance, is there evidence of a knowing violation required by *Sanon v. City of Pella*, 865 N.W.2d 506 (Iowa 2015), supporting a finding by a trier of fact that a diving board is not sufficiently slip resistant creating a “criminal offense” that would remove the statutory immunity afforded municipalities by Iowa Code 670.4(1)(I)?

**TABLE OF CONTENTS**

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR FURTHER REVIEW.....P.2

TABLE OF CONTENTS.....P.3

STATEMENT SUPPORTING FURTHER REVIEW.....P.5

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES.....P.7

**BRIEF POINT: THE CASE OF *SANON V. CITY OF PELLA*, 865 N.W.2D  
506 (IOWA 2015) WAS EITHER MISAPPLIED TO THE FACTS OF THIS  
CASE OR SHOULD BE OVERRULED IN FAVOR OF ITS DISSENTING  
OPINION.....P.9**

The Standardless Regulation at Issue: 641 IAC 15.4(4)(c)(6).....P.9

*Sanon* Requires a “Knowing” Violation Justifying Summary  
Judgment.....P.10

The Need to Overrule *Sanon*.....P.13

*The Correct Interpretation of Iowa Code Chapter 135I Enforcement  
Provisions of 641 IAC 15.6.....P.15*

*Sanon’s Reliance on the Wrong Statute.....P.20*

*Due Process Consequences.....P.26*

*Procedural Conundrums.....P.29*

Conclusion.....P.29

Attachment of Court of Appeals Decision filed May 24, 2023.....P.30

Request for Oral Argument.....P.39  
Certificate of Service & Filing.....P.40  
Certificate of Compliance.....P.41

## STATEMENT SUPPORTING FURTHER REVIEW

We respectfully argue that the Court of Appeals' reliance on *Sanon v. City of Pella*, 865 N.W.2d 506 (Iowa 2015), in reaching its decision in this case was misapplied and does not support overturning the grant of summary judgment in this case. If reliance on *Sanon* was not misapplied, the 4-3 split decision of *Sanon* should be overturned and the Court should follow the reasoning set forth in *Sanon's* dissenting opinion and as set forth in *Larsen v. City of Reinbeck*, 776 N.W.2<sup>nd</sup> 301 (Table), 2009 WL 3064658 (Iowa App. 2009).

As it stands, we argue that the majority decision in *Sanon* is not supported by the statutory language of Iowa Code Chapter 135I and its application it does the following:

- 1) It makes a violation of a pool safety regulation a criminal offense – an offense not supported by statutory language;
- 2) In the context of determining whether criminal conduct has occurred, it allows a jury arbitrarily, on a case-by-case basis, to determine the meaning of a vague standardless safety regulation as a question of fact, using negligence standards, rather than having the court determine the regulatory meaning as a matter of law;

- 3) It allows standardless safety requirements to become the basis of a finding criminal conduct in violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution void for vagueness doctrine;
- 4) It allows for the violation of the rule of lenity which requires that ambiguous statutes imposing criminal liability be strictly construed in favor of the defendant;
- 5) It creates the potential to lead to illogical and arbitrary results both legally and procedurally; and
- 6) It makes meaningless the legislatively preserved immunity from liability afforded municipalities under Iowa Code section 670.4(1)(l) – an immunity created in tandem with Iowa Code chapter 135I.

The Court of Appeals decision, relying on *Sanon*, has broad constitutional implications under the void for vagueness doctrine as it pertains to deciding the meaning of vague and standardless agency regulations for purposes of determining whether a crime has occurred and makes meaningless Iowa Code section 670.4(1)(l). We respectfully argue that the questions presented herein meet all the grounds justifying further review outlined in Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1103(1)(b).

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

U.S. Supreme Court

*Trop v. Dulles*, 356 U.S. 86, 78 S.Ct. 590, 2 L.Ed.2d 630 (1958).....P.27

*United States. v. Harriss*, 347 U.S. 612 74 S.Ct. 808, 98 L.Ed. 989  
(1954).....P.27

Iowa Supreme Court

*Baker v. City of Ottumwa*, 560 N.W.2d 578 (Iowa 1997).....P.14 & 23-25

*Builders Transp., Inc. v. State*, 421 N.W.2d 539 (Iowa 1988).....P.25

*Iowa Ins. Inst. v. Core Grp. of Iowa Ass'n for Just.*, 867 N.W.2d 58 (Iowa  
2015).....P.14

*K & W Elec., Inc. v. State*, 712 N.W.2d 107 (Iowa 2006)..... P.22

*Sanon v. City of Pella*, 865 N.W.2d 506 (Iowa 2015) P.10, 11, 13, 15, & 20-  
25

*State v. Gonzalez*, 718 N.W.2d 304 (Iowa 2006).....P.20

*State v. Nail*, 743 N.W.2d 535 (Iowa 2007).....P.27

*State v. Wiederien*, 709 N.W. 538 (Iowa 2006) .....P.22 & 26

*Thomas v. Gavin*, 838 N.W.2d 518 (Iowa 2013).....P.22

Iowa Court of Appeals

*Larsen v. City of Reinbeck*, 776 N.W.2d 301(Table), 2009 WL 3064658  
(Iowa App. 2009).....P.21 & 29

## Iowa Code

Iowa Code §4.4(2).....	P.22
Iowa Code §135.38.....	P.11, 12, 20-22, & 25
Iowa Code Chapter 135.....	P.11 & 20-22
Iowa Code Chapter 135I .....	P.11, 13-17, 19-22, 24, & 28
Iowa Code §135I.4.....	P.16 & 18
Iowa Code §135I.5.....	P.15, 17, & 21
Iowa Code §135I.6.....	P.14, 16-19, & 22
Iowa Code §670.4(1)(I) .....	P.11, 13, 14, 20, 23, & 24

## Iowa Legislative History

<i>89 Acts Chapter 291 Swimming Pools and Spas, HF 373</i> .....	P.14
--	------

## Iowa Administrative Code

641 IAC 15.4(4)(c)(6).....	P.9, 10, 24, 26, 28
641 IAC 15.6.....	P.15, 17, & 28
641 <i>IAC</i> 15.6(1).....	P.18
641 <i>IAC</i> 15.6(2)(a & b).....	P.18
641 <i>IAC</i> 15.6(2)(c).....	P.18
641 <i>IAC</i> 15.6(2)(d).....	P.19



## BRIEF POINT I

**THE CASE OF *SANON V. CITY OF PELLA*, 865 N.W.2D 506 (IOWA 2015) WAS EITHER MISAPPLIED TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE OR SHOULD BE OVERRULED IN FAVOR OF ITS DISSENTING OPINION.**

### The Standardless Regulation at Issue: 641 IAC 15.4(4)(c)(6)

Ron Myers (hereinafter Plaintiff) alleges that his July 19, 2019 fall from a diving board at the Cedar Falls, Iowa (hereinafter the City) municipal swimming pool was the result of the City's violation of an Iowa Department of Public Health (hereinafter IDPH) regulation, 641 IAC 15.4(4)(c)(6), which states: "Swimming pools shall be operated in a safe, sanitary manner and shall meet the following operational standards. "Diving boards and platforms shall have a slip resistant surface." 641 IAC 15.4(4)(c)(6). (App. 06 & 08, ¶¶13 & 21) There is no dispute in the record that the City had installed an IDPH approved 16-foot Duraflex diving board commonly used for recreation diving at commercial facilities and that it was coated with a slip resistant surface. (App. 102 ¶¶P1-3, 5, & 6; 105-112) Plaintiff argues that the City allowed the diving board to become worn such that the slip resistant surface was no longer sufficiently slip resistant. (App. 06 PP7-10; 08 ¶¶12-13 & 20-21; 145 (P.63 LL.5-22))

The pool is inspected annually by the Black Hawk County Health Department (hereinafter BHHD). The inspection report immediately preceding the July 19, 2019 accident was completed on June 5, 2019. (App. 103–04 ¶8, 113-15, 196 (P.28 LL.15-21)) There were no diving board safety issues discovered during the inspection. There is no mention of any deficiency in the safety of the diving boards in any prior inspection reports. (App. 103–04 ¶8, 113-16, 196 (P.28 LL.15-17), 197 (P.29 LL.5-7)) The City’s recreation supervisor, responsible for the opening, maintenance, and closing of the municipal pool each year, was of the opinion that the diving board had a sufficiently slip resistant surface. (App. 102 ¶1; 103 ¶7; 190 (P.3 LL.7-10); 191 (P.5 LL.18-21); 192 (P.10 L.19- P.11 L.13 & P. 12 LL.4-24); 194 (P.18 LL.2-6), 195 (P.22 L.24 – P.24 L.12), 198 (P.35 L.8-P.36 L.3)) No employee of the City has been charged or convicted of any criminal offense related to the operation of the municipal pool. (App. 104 ¶11)

The problem presented by 641 IAC 15.4(4)(c)(6) in the context of the case of *Sanon v. City of Pella*, 865 N.W.2D 506 (Iowa 2015) is that the requirement that a diving board have a slip resistant surface has no supporting standards to assist a pool operator in knowing whether a diving board’s slip resistant surface has worn to the point that the IDPH would consider it insufficiently slip resistant and in violation of the regulation. As it stands,

opinions could vary greatly as to what makes a diving board sufficiently slip resistant.

The facts of this case expose the problems caused by the decision of the majority in the 4-3 decision of *Sanon*, holding that any knowing violation of a regulation created by IDPH pursuant to its authority under Iowa Code chapter 135I would constitute a misdemeanor and thus be criminal conduct that would void the immunity preserved for municipalities by Iowa Code section 670.4(1)(1). *Sanon v. City of Pella*, 865 N.W.2D at 515. We agree with the dissenting opinion in the *Sanon* case that this holding is based on incorrect application of statutory interpretation that can lead to illogical results and make meaningless the application of Iowa Code section 670.4(1)(1). *Id.* at 518. We add to the argument that, as interpreted by the Iowa Court of Appeals in this case, the *Sanon* opinion leads to an unconstitutional result.

*Sanon* Requires a “Knowing” Violation Justifying Summary Judgment

The majority in *Sanon* co-opts Iowa Code section 135.38 from chapter 135 and applies it to the separate Code chapter 135I in order to justify its decision. Iowa Code §135.38 states:

Any person who *knowingly* violates any provision of *this chapter*, or of the rules of the department, or any lawful order, written or oral, of the department or of its officers, or authorized agents, shall be guilty of a simple misdemeanor.

*Iowa Code* §135.8 (emphasis added). Section 135.8 does not mention that anyone who accidentally, or negligently violates a provision of the chapter shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. To this end, even if the Court decides that the *Sanon* decision should stand, the Court of Appeals should have affirmed the district court grant of summary judgment in this case. The district court in this case applied the “knowing” requirement of *Iowa Code* §135.38 adopted by the Supreme Court in *Sanon* in its opinion granting summary judgment to the City. (App. 15–19) The district court concluded:

The Court has had an opportunity to review Larson v. City of Reinbeck, 776 N.W.2d 301 (Table) 2009 WL 3064658 (Iowa App. 2009) and Sanon v. City of Pella, 865 N.W.2d 506 (Iowa 2015). Again, without reiterating the arguments set forth in the cases above and counsel’s respective positions, the Court finds absence of any evidence showing the city, an officer, or an employee of the municipality knowingly violated either the *Iowa Code* or the administrative regulations set forth above. Absent the knowing violation, the city’s immunity remains.

*Id.* In this case there is no evidence of any violation being known to the City, to the IDPH, or to the BHHC. Absent admission by the City or notice of violation from the IDPH or BHHC it would not be possible for a trier of fact to determine a violation absent standards for an adequately slip resistant diving board surface. In fact, as discussed below, agency regulations entitle the City to notice and opportunity to cure and opportunity to be heard and subsequent failure to comply before any simple misdemeanor can be found.

None of that occurred in this case. For these reasons, we respectfully argue that, should the Court wish to apply *Sanon* majority rationale to the facts of this case, the summary judgment entered into by the district court should be affirmed.

### The Need To Overrule *Sanon*

We urge the Court to consider overruling the *Sanon* decision. We believe the dissenting opinion was correctly decided. The dissent points out that the majority opinion undermines the purpose of the immunity of section 670.4(1)(1), which states:

1. The liability imposed by section 670.2 shall have no application to any claim enumerated in this section. As to any of the following claims, a municipality shall be liable only to the extent liability may be imposed by the express statute dealing with such claims and, in the absence of such express statute, the municipality shall be immune from liability:

1. A claim relating to a swimming pool or spa as defined in section 135I.1 which has been inspected by a municipality or the state in accordance with chapter 135I, or a swimming pool or spa inspection program which has been certified by the state in accordance with that chapter, whether or not owned or operated by a municipality, unless the claim is based upon an act or omission of an officer or employee of the municipality and the act or omission constitutes actual malice or a criminal offense.

*Iowa Code* § 670.4(1)(1) The dissent in *Sanon* points out the purpose of this immunity “is to reduce the litigation risk inherent in aquatic recreation and

thereby encourage cities, counties, and schools to open and operate swimming pools.” *Id.* at 522, citing *Baker v. City of Ottumwa*, 560 N.W.2d 578, 582 (Iowa 1997).

In legislative interpretation it is significant that the Iowa legislature enacted what is now Iowa Code Chapter 135I (formerly 135J) in the same Act as Iowa Code §670.4(1)(l). 89 Acts Chapter 291 *Swimming Pools and Spas*, HF 373. These provisions should be viewed together in determining the purpose of the legislation as a whole and the meaning and purpose of its individual parts. *Iowa Ins. Inst. v. Core Grp. of Iowa Ass'n for Just.*, 867 N.W.2d 58, 72 (Iowa 2015).

We have “characterized statutory immunities as having a broad scope and we have given words used in such immunity statutes a broad meaning.” *Cubit v. Mahaska County*, 677 N.W.2d 777, 784 (Iowa 2004) (collecting cases broadly applying immunity provisions of section 670.4); *see also Walker v. Mlakar*, 489 N.W.2d 401, 405 (Iowa 1992) (interpreting narrowly statutory exception to common law immunity). “Immunity is based upon the desire to ‘prevent judicial “second-guessing” of legislative and administrative decisions grounded in social, economic, and political policy through the medium of an action in tort.’” *Graber v. City of Ankeny*, 656 N.W.2d 157, 160 (Iowa 2003) (quoting *Goodman v. City of LeClaire*, 587 N.W.2d 232, 237 (Iowa 1998)). The majority's interpretation effectively second-guesses the legislative policy choice to limit recovery rights in order to encourage aquatic recreational opportunities. That is not our court's role. The legislature's policy choice was reasonable—the immunity in section 670.4(12) is conditioned upon submission to pool safety inspections with the inspectors empowered to shut down pools operating in violation of the department's rules. *See Iowa Code § 135I.6.*

*Sanon v. City of Pella* 865 N.W.2d at 522–23 (dissent).

The dissent argues that to the extent that the IDPH creates a rule and makes the violation of a regulation a crime beyond what the statute authorized, such provision should be considered null and void, especially where it would serve to thwart the intention of the Iowa legislature to provide municipalities immunity from liability arising out of their operation of community swimming pools. *Id.* at 526-27, *see fn.*15. “Here, the controlling statute, section 135I.5, imposes criminal liability solely for statutory violations, not rule violations. The majority’s interpretation allows the department to expand criminal liability by rule beyond what the legislature authorized and thereby defeat the immunity protection the legislature intended.” *Id.* at 527.

#### *The Correct Interpretation of Iowa Code Chapter 135I*

##### *Enforcement Provisions of 641 IAC 15.6*

The IDPH is given responsibility under Iowa Code chapter 135I to register and regulate the operation of public swimming pools. *Iowa Code* §135I.4. In addition to the list of “shalls” (like the duty to conduct seminars and training sessions and disseminating information regarding health practices, safety measures, and operating procedures to registered pool facilities), IDPH is *allowed* under the listing of “mays” to:

1. Inspect swimming pools for the purpose of detecting and eliminating health or safety hazards;
2. Establish minimum safety and sanitation criteria for pool operation;
3. Establish minimum pool qualifications;
4. Establish and collect inspection fees to defray the cost of administering chapter 135I;
5. Adopt rules in accordance with chapter 17A for the implementation and enforcement of chapter 135I; and
6. Enter agreements with a local board of health [such as BHHC] to implement the inspection and enforcement provisions of chapter 135I.

*Iowa Code* § 135I.4.

The enforcement provision is the last section of the statute. *Iowa Code* §135I.6. According to section 135I.6, the power of enforcement granted to the IDPH to carry out its powers and duties outlined in section 135I.4 is limited to allowing it (or contracted local boards of health such as BHHC) to 1) withhold or revoke a registration or 2) order that a facility or item of equipment not be used until necessary corrective action is taken. *Iowa Code* §§135I.4 & 135I.6. A violation of the chapter would appear to be 1) operating



a pool without a valid registration or 2) operating the facility or using an item of equipment after being told not to use the facility or equipment until the necessary corrective action has been taken. *Id.* Use of the county attorney or attorney general is allowed when necessary to enforce such an order. *Iowa Code* §135I.6. A person violating a provision of chapter 135I such that it would constitute a simple misdemeanor, would be a person who resisted an IDPH order. *Iowa Code* §§135I.5 & 135I.6

Nowhere in this Iowa Code chapter is there listed an ability for the IDPH to deem mere violation of its pool safety or sanitary standards a simple misdemeanor. Iowa Code §135I.5 only states that a person who violated a *provision of this chapter* commits a simple misdemeanor. Within the structure of chapter 135I, a municipality cannot accidentally commit a misdemeanor by having a condition that some third person might later argue is in violation of a standardless, vague agency pool regulation. The misdemeanor occurs by knowingly disobeying an agency directive or order. Any other reading does not fit within the statutory framework.

The rules adopted by the IDPH for the implementation and enforcement of chapter 135I, are in 641 IAC 15.6. Enforcement starts with inspections. The IDPH or county board is allowed to inspect pools and to enforce the regulations created to establish the minimum safety and sanitary criteria as is

allowed by Iowa Code §135I.4(1 & 2). 641 IAC 15.6(1). When the IDPH or county board believes that enforcement *is necessary* the regulation states that it *shall* take the following steps in order to enforce their rules:

*Owner notification.* As soon as possible after the violations are noted, the inspection agency *shall provide written notification* to the owner of the facility that:

- (1) Cites each section of the Iowa Code or Iowa Administrative Code violated.
- (2) Specifies the manner in which the owner or operator failed to comply.
- (3) Specifies the steps required for correcting the violation.
- (4) Requests a corrective action plan, including a time schedule for completion of the plan (which the agency shall review and approve or require modification).
- (5) Sets a reasonable time limit, not to exceed 30 days from *the* receipt of the notice, within which the owner of the facility must respond.

641 IAC 15.6(2)(a & b)(emphasis added) Notification of the violation, reasonable means to correct or challenge the violation, followed by failure to correct the violation after being given notice and ability to correct or challenge, are prerequisites for the enforcement of IDPH pool safety regulations. 641 IAC 15.6(2)(c).

The regulation states that enforcement must be in accordance with Iowa Code §135I.6. *Id.* If, through this process, the IDPH determines its regulations have been violated it may: 1) withhold or revoke the registration of a swimming pool or spa, or 2) order that a swimming pool or spa be closed

until corrective action has been taken. 641 *IAC* 15.6(2)(d) Enforcement of the decision to withhold or revoke the registration or an order to close a swimming pool *shall* be delivered by restricted certified mail, return receipt requested, or by personal service and the pool owner has the right to appeal the decision and to be heard in and administrative hearing. *Id.* Notice is essential.

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