THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 22-0917

Blackhawk County No. LACV141273

RON MYERS,

Petitioner-Appellant

vs.

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA,

Respondent-Appellee

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACKHAWK
COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JOEL DALRYMPLE

PETITIONER-APPELLANT'S RESISTANCE TO APPLICATION FOR
FURTHER REVIEW

THOMAS J. DUFF

JIM DUFF

DUFF LAW FIRM, P.L.C.

4090 Westown Parkway, Suite 102

West Des Moines, Iowa 50266

Telephone: 515-224-4999

Facsimile: 515-327-5401

Email: tom@tdufflaw.com

jim@tdufflaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER-APPELLANT

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

3. The court of appeals has decided a case where there is an important question of changing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(b)(3)

The court of appeals followed and applied the logic of *Sanon*. There are no changing legal principles in play and, if they exist, the City failed to identify them.

4. The case presents an issue of broad public importance that the supreme court should ultimately determine. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(b)(4)

The issues here are narrow and case-specific and do not implicate matters of broad public importance. Moreover, this Court already decided the legal principles in *Sanon*.

In sum, the City failed to identify why this Court should exercise its discretion and grant further review. Instead, the City seeks to overturn *Sanon* despite its failure to preserve error.

II. THE CITY DID NOT PRESERVE ERROR ON WHETHER *SANON V. CITY OF PELLA* SHOULD BE OVERTURNED

In the trial court, the City argued that the majority opinion in *Sanon* was wrongly decided but never directly asks for outright reversal. While the trial court seemed to put *Larsen v. City of Reinbeck*, 776 N.W.2d 301 (Table), 2009 WL 306458 (Iowa App. 2009) on equal footing with *Sanon*, it nevertheless failed to reach the City’s argument that *Sanon* should be overturned. Instead, the trial court granted summary judgment—without relying on either *Larson* or *Sanon*—by making the unsupported factual determination that there was an “absence of any evidence showing the city, an officer, or any employee of the municipality knowingly violated either the Iowa Code or the administrative regulations set forth above.”

(App.000018; Order Granting MSJ at pg. 4) The City failed to file a motion asking the district court to reconsider or clarify its ruling and directly overturn *Sanon*.

In its briefing before the court of appeals, the City argued for reversal of the *Sanon* majority opinion and adoption of the rationale utilized in *Larsen* and the dissent in *Sanon*. In his Reply Brief, Myers argued that the City failed to preserve this issue for appeal. (Myers Reply Brief pgs.7-11) The court of appeals, without addressing the error preservation issue, simply noted that it was bound by existing precedent and that factual disputes exist with respect to whether the diving board had a slip-resistance surface at the time Myers was injured. (Ct. of Appeals Ruling p. 6)

This Court should decline further review because the City did not properly preserve for appeal whether *Sanon* should be overturned at the district court level. “It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal.” *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002). “The reason for this principle relates to the essential symmetry required of our legal system. It is not a sensible exercise of appellate review to analyze facts or an issue without the benefit of a full record or lower court determination.” *Id.* (internal quotations omitted). “When a district court

fails to rule on an issue properly raised by a party, the party who raised the issue must file a motion requesting a ruling in order to preserve error for appeal.” *Id.*

As noted above, the district court declined to clearly state one way or another whether it was declining to follow the *Sanon* majority and instead dismissed the case on factual grounds, finding an “absence of evidence” to show a knowing violation. (App.000018; Order Granting MSJ at pg.4) The City now seeks outright reversal of *Sanon*, but failed to preserve the issue by filing a motion to reconsider or enlarge with the trial court. This is fatal to the City’s request to now have this Court consider the important question of whether existing precedent should be overruled.

The City cannot argue that the district court necessarily decided this issue by granting the motion for summary judgment. This is not the law, and this exact situation was addressed and rejected in *Meier v. Seneca*, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002). In *Meier* the defendant filed a motion to dismiss on several grounds. One of these grounds was that the district court lacked jurisdiction. *Id.* at 537. “The district court denied the motion in a lengthy written ruling, but did not specifically address the jurisdictional issue[.]” *Id.* On appeal, the defendant “claime[d] the district court necessarily decided the issue by overruling the motion to dismiss.” *Id.*

The *Meier* Court rejected this argument and expressly held that the rule of error preservation “requires a party seeking to appeal an issue presented to, but not considered by, the district court to call attention to the district court its failure to decide the issue.” *Id.* at 540. “The claim or issue raised does not actually need to be used as the basis for the decision to be preserved, but the record must at least reveal the court was aware of the claim or issue and litigated it.” *Id.* The *Meier* Court ultimately held that the defendant “failed to call to the attention of the district court its failure to consider this issue, and to give the court an opportunity to pass upon it. Accordingly, the issue is waived.” *Id.* at 541.

Meier’s holding on error preservation was neither novel nor an aberration. Rather, it merely reaffirmed and expounded upon the long standing—and currently applicable—rule requiring error preservation for appellate review. *See also Nahas v. Polk County*, ___ N.W.2d ___, 2003 WL3906488 (Iowa 2023)(error was not preserved because the district court did not rule on the statute’s constitutionality); *State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co. v. Pflibsen*, 350 N.W.2d 202, 206 (Iowa 1984) (refusing to consider issue that was raised by defendant but not decided by district court); *State v. Krogmann*, 804 N.W.2d 518, 524 (Iowa 2011) (stating that “when a court fails to rule on a matter, a party must request a ruling by some means”);

Fennelly v. A-1 Mach. & Tool Co., 728 N.W.2d 181, 187 (Iowa 2007) (finding a claim that was not addressed in the district court’s summary judgment order and not subsequently brought to the court’s attention had not been preserved for appeal); *Stammeyer v. Div. of Narcotics Enforcement*, 721 N.W.2d 541, 548 (Iowa 2006) (finding an argument not preserved for appeal when there was “nothing indicating the court ruled upon or even considered [it]”); *Boyle v. Alum-Line, Inc.*, 710 N.W.2d 741, 751 n. 4 (Iowa 2006) (stating that “[w]hen a district court fails to rule on an issue properly raised by a party, the party who raised the issue must file a motion requesting a ruling in order to preserve error for appeal.”).

The procedural facts of *Meier* are virtually indistinguishable from the present case. The City argued for adoption of *Larsen* and the *Sanon* dissent before the district court, but the lower court never addressed that specific legal question in either its Order granting summary judgment or the Order Re: Plaintiff’s Motion pursuant to I.R.C.P. 1.904. (App. 000015-000019, 000029-000030) The City never drew the district court’s attention to this important legal question thereby giving the lower court the opportunity to rule on it. Accordingly, the City did not properly preserve this issue for appeal. *Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 541.

III. PLAINTIFF GENERATED A FACT DISPUTE REGARDING WHETHER THE DIVING BOARD LACKED A SLIP-RESISTANT SURFACE AND WHETHER THE CITY HAD KNOWLEDGE OF THIS DEFECTIVE CONDITION

Applying the *Sanon* decision to the present case, Myers must demonstrate two facts to defeat immunity. First, Myers must show that the City violated a rule or regulation and that such violation constitutes a crime; here a simple misdemeanor. Second, Myers must demonstrate a knowing violation of the rule or regulation. If a reasonable jury could conclude that Myers established both facts, the City is not entitled to immunity under Section 670.4. *Sanon*, 865 N.W.2d at 514. The court of appeals found that Myers satisfied this burden and correctly held that summary judgment was improper.

A. The City Violated a Rule/Regulation

In this case, the administrative rule in question is Iowa Admin. r. 641—15.4(4)(c)(6). The Rule states: “Diving boards and platforms shall have a slip-resistant surface.” The City claims that this regulatory standard is so vague and uncertain that municipal pool owners would be forced “to speculate and guess” when a diving board is no longer in compliance. The argument is directly refuted by the testimony of Bruce Verink, the Recreation and Community Programs Manager for the City, who testified

that he knows what slip-resistant means specifically in the context of the applicable administrative rule.

Q: And are you aware that the code requires that the diving board have a slip-resistant surface?

A: Yes.

Q: What does that mean- - what does that mean to you?

A: That it has enough texture to keep prudent people from slipping.

(App.000175; Verink Dep. 59:12-21)

The court of appeals rejected the City's argument that a lack of a measurable standard of how slip-resistant the diving board therefore means no violation of the administrative rule occurred:

The fact that there is no articulated level of slip resistance that must be maintained does not change the plain language of the rule—the diving board must have a slip resistant surface. Either the board had a slip-resistant surface or it didn't. Here, there was conflicting evidence of whether it did, so a factual dispute is generated that needs to be resolved through the trial process. (Ct. of Appeals Ruling pgs.4-5)

Contrary to the City's assertions, juries are frequently asked to make fact determinations concerning whether conduct violates a rule or regulation.

The uniform jury instructions provide:

You have received evidence of [applicable safety code provisions.] Conformity with [the provisions of a safety code] is evidence that (name of party) was not negligent and [violations of its provisions] is evidence that (name of party) was negligent.

Such evidence is relevant and you should consider it, but it is not conclusive proof.

Iowa Uniform Jury Instruction 700.11 (2020).

The uniform jury instructions also permits jurors to consider code violations as negligence: “(Name of Safety Code) requires (Substance of Safety Code). A violation of this law is negligence.” Iowa Uniform Jury Instruction 700.10 (2020). Both of these instructions require a jury to first determine whether a rule was violated *before* they are permitted to consider the violation to be negligence or evidence of negligence. Accordingly, the argument that a jury should not be allowed to determine whether a safety code was violated is specious.

B. The City Knowingly Violated the Rule

The City next argues that because it was not notified of or cited for violating the rule that no liability can attach. According to the City, immunity is only lost if the municipal pool owner receives notice of a rule violation from either the Iowa Department of Public Health or the Blackhawk County Health Department along with an opportunity to correct the deficiency. The court of appeals correctly rejected this argument:

Nothing in the rule suggests that the city only violates the rule if it is informed or cited for a violation of it. Again, either the board had a slip-resistance surface, or it didn't, and the fact the city was notified about or cited for a violation of the rule does not change

the need to resolve the underlying factual dispute whether the rule was violated. (Ct. of Appeals Ruling p. 5)

In addition, neither the majority or dissenting opinions in *Sanon* imposed such a notice requirement. Indeed, even the dissent noted: “None of the department’s inspections addressed the adequacy of the overhead lighting or water clarity, or the use of underwater lighting. The City never received a citation for murky water or insufficient lighting.” *Sanon*, 865 N.W.2d at 519. The lack of a citation and formal notice to the City of Pella was of no legal significance because there was ample evidence that the City knew about the condition of the board prior to the plaintiffs’ injuries. In this case, there is substantial evidence that the City had both constructive and actual knowledge of the dangerous condition of the diving board and failed to correct the defect.

The City also suggests that because no one from the City has been charged with or convicted of a criminal offense regarding the diving board that the crime exception to the immunity rule does not apply. This argument is similar, if not identical, to the argument made in *Sanon* that a “criminal offense” within the meaning of section 670.4(1)(1) cannot be established absent a criminal conviction or prosecution. *Sanon*, 865 N.W.2d at 515.

The Court in Division V¹ of *Sanon* soundly rejected this argument: “We conclude no conviction is required to avoid the immunity defense.” *Id.* at 516. Instead, plaintiff need only prove by a preponderance of the evidence that a city employee or officer committed a criminal act causing injury. *Id.* at 517.

IV. SANON SHOULD NOT BE OVERRULED

A. Defendant Failed to Preserve Error.

As previously argued, the district court did not address the continuing viability of *Sanon* and the City did not file a motion to reconsider or seek clarification.

B. The Legislature Acquiesced to the Majority Opinion in *Sanon*

Justice Waterman in his dissenting opinion in *Sanon* expressed concern that the majority opinion would make it costlier for cities to keep swimming pools open. *Id.* at 518 (Waterman, J., dissenting). The following statement arose out of that concern: “Some pools may close as liability insurance costs climb. I invite the legislature to take a fresh look at the scope of tort immunity for municipal swimming pools in light of today’s decision.” *Id.* The Iowa Legislature amended Section 670.4 multiple times

¹ All Justices concurred in Division V.

after *Sanon* was decided in June 2015, but has never amended or modified section 670.4(12) (now section 670.4(1(l))) despite the Court’s invitation to do so.

The legislative amendments to section 670.4 since 2015 have expanded existing immunities and created new ones. In 2018, section 670.4(q) was added to the statute creating a completely new section immunizing any claim relating to a constructed honeybee hive. 2018 Acts, ch. 1126 § 2 (April 7, 2018). In 2019 the statute was amended to add clarifying language to section 670.4(k) by expanding the definition of “municipality.” 2019 Acts, ch. 153, §1 (May 17, 2019). Section 670.4 was amended twice in 2020. First, by adding new immunities relating to equipment used in firefighting or emergency response. Iowa Code § 670.4(r); 2020 Acts, ch. 1027 § 3 (June 1, 2020). Second, by making amendments to sections 670.4(1) and 670.4(2). 2020 Acts, ch. 1063, § 371, 372 (June 17, 2020). In 2021, the legislature again amended chapter 670 by adding an entirely new section expanding the scope of qualified immunity. Iowa Code §670.4A (2021). Notably absent from the legislature’s amendments and modifications to section 670.4 was any change to that portion of the statute dealing with swimming pool immunity.

Under the doctrine of legislative acquiescence, “we presume the legislature is aware of our cases that interpret its statutes.” *Ackelson v. Manley Toy Direct, L.L.C.*, 832 N.W.2d 678, 688 (Iowa 2013). “When many years pass following such a case without a legislative response, we assume the legislature has acquiesced in our interpretation.” *Id.* In *State v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Jones Cnty.*, 902 N.W.2d 811, 817–18 (Iowa 2017) the Court was interpreting Iowa Code section 903A.2 titled “Earned time” which “allows inmates to reduce their sentences for good conduct.” *Id.* at 815. One of the issues before the Court was whether to adhere to its previous interpretation of the statute set forth in *Holm v. State*, 767 N.W.2d 409 (Iowa 2009). *Id.* The Court noted that the legislature amended the statute five times without altering its interpretation in *Holm* and therefore concluded “that the legislature acquiesced in *Holm*’s interpretation of section 903A.2.” *Id.* at 818.

In this case, the legislature amended section 670.4 five times since the *Sanon* decision, but made no amendments or modifications to the section involving swimming pool immunity. Accordingly, the Court can safely conclude that the legislature has acquiesced in the *Sanon* majority’s construction of section 670.4(1)(1).

V. CONCLUSION

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